IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Supreme Court Case No. 78092

Tonopah Solar Energy, LLC, *Appellant*

Electronically Filed Oct 03 2019 04:15 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

Brahma Group, Inc., *Respondent*

Appeal
Fifth Judicial District Court
The Honorable Steven P. Elliott
Case No. CV 39348

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

D. LEE ROBERTS, JR., ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8877
COLBY L. BALKENBUSH, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 13066
RYAN T. GORMLEY, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 13494
WEINBERG, WHEELER, HUDGINS,
GUNN & DIAL, LLC
6385 South Rainbow Blvd., Suite 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
(702) 938-3838
lroberts@wwhgd.com
cbalkenbush@wwhgd.com
rgormley@wwhgd.com

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(b)(1) and NRS 108.2275(8). Appellant moved under NRS 108.2275 to expunge a mechanic's lien recorded by Respondent. The district court entered an order under NRS 108.2275(6) denying the motion to expunge. Notice of entry of the order denying the motion to expunge was served on November 1, 2018. 6 AA 472. Respondent then moved for attorney fees and costs under NRS 108.2275(6)(C), which the district court granted. Notice of entry of the order granting the motion for fees and costs was served on January 9, 2019. 14 AA 1006. Appellant timely filed its notice of appeal identifying both orders on February 5, 2019. 14 AA 1019.

ISSUES PRESENTED

Appellant Tonopah Solar Energy, LLC ("TSE") is the project developer and owner of improvements constituting a near billion-dollar thermal solar energy project located outside Tonopah, Nevada. The project sits on land owned by the federal government and under lease to TSE. TSE entered into a services agreement with Respondent Brahma Group, Inc. ("Brahma") for Brahma to perform certain work on the project. Brahma and TSE have asserted competing claims against each other arising out of this relationship: Brahma contends that

¹ "AA" refers to the Appellant's Appendix submitted in conjunction with this brief. The number preceding AA indicates the volume, while the number following AA indicates the bates number.

TSE owes it millions of dollars for work it performed on the project; TSE contends that it does not owe any additional money and that much of the money that it has already paid to Brahma was based on fraudulent invoices.

At the onset of this dispute, Brahma recorded a mechanic's lien under NRS Chapter 108. TSE moved to expunge the lien. Brahma amended the lien four times, both before and after TSE filed its motion to expunge. Brahma's original lien, however, attached federally-owned land. Brahma later amended its lien to only attach TSE-owned improvements on the federally-owned land. The federal government has a significant security interest in those improvements via a \$737 million loan guarantee from the U.S. Department of Energy that is secured by all of TSE's assets. Nevertheless, the district court denied TSE's motion to expunge. Brahma then moved for nearly \$80,000 in attorney fees under NRS 108.2275(6), which the district court granted in its entirety. The issues presented are:

- 1. Courts have held that liens that attach federally-owned land are invalid as a matter of law. Was Brahma's original lien, which attached-federally owned land, invalid as a matter of law?
- 2. This Court and others have held that void legal documents, such as deeds, liens, and pleadings, cannot be amended because it is as if they never existed. Liens attaching federally-owned land are void. Could Brahma amend its original lien, which attached federally-owned land?

- 3. NRS 108.229(1) provides that a variance between a lien and an amended lien made intentionally cannot be done via amendment. Brahma's original lien intentionally attached federally-owned land. It was amended to no longer attach federally-owned land. Did NRS 108.229(1) preclude such an amendment?
- 4. Courts have held that sovereign immunity bars liens against property in which the federal government has a real, substantial financial interest, even if it has a less than fee simple interest. The federal government has a nine figure security interest in the project improvements attached by Brahma's current mechanic's lien. Does sovereign immunity render Brahma's lien against the project improvements invalid as a matter of law?
- 5. Despite the fact that Brahma's time entries supporting its fee award were block billed, the district court awarded Brahma one hundred percent of the fees it requested. Was this an abuse of discretion?

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because it involves statutory lien matters arising under NRS Chapter 108. *See* NRAP 17(b)(8). Principal issues in this appeal, however, present issues of first impression involving the common law and statewide public importance, which the Supreme Court may wish to address. *See* NRAP 17(a)(11)-(12).

- The second issue presented above concerns a question of first impression involving the common law, namely whether a void mechanic's lien can be amended. It was primarily raised at 1 AA 10 and 3 AA 241-42 and resolved at 6 AA 480. It is important because it concerns the principle of amending void legal documents and the impact of sovereign immunity when applied to mechanic's liens encumbering federally-owned land.
- The third issue presented above presents a question of first impression involving the interpretation of NRS 108.229(1). It was raised at 1 AA 10 and resolved at 6 AA 480. This issue is important because construction is a significant industry in Nevada and developing case law that further defines the scope of Nevada's mechanic's lien laws is beneficial to the industry as a whole as it reduces uncertainty and improves decision making.
- The fourth issue presented above presents questions of first impression involving the common law, specifically the application of sovereign immunity to liens attaching property in which the federal government has a less-than-fee-simple interest. It was raised at 3 AA 243-45 and resolved at 6 AA 480-81. This issue is important because there is a significant amount of federally-owned land in Nevada and little case law discussing the impact of federal sovereign immunity on mechanic's liens.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the district court's denial of TSE's motion to expunge a mechanic's lien under NRS 108.2275, see 6 AA 472, and the grant of Brahma's subsequent motion for attorney fees and costs under NRS 108.2275(6), see 14 AA 1006.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The pertinent facts for this appeal include the project background, Brahma's ever-changing lien, the arguments raised in the district court, and the district court's decisions.

I. TSE develops a solar energy project on federally-owned land, in which the federal government has a significant financial interest.

TSE is the project developer of the Crescent Dunes Solar Energy Facility ("Project"). 1 AA 81. The Project is a thermal reserve solar energy project located outside Tonopah, Nevada on land owned by the Bureau of Land Management ("BLM"). 1 AA 81; 3 AA 266. It is designed to produce 110 megawatts of electricity through the use of molten salt. 3 AA 266. It is the first of its kind in the United States. *Id*.

The U.S. Department of Energy ("DOE") provided a \$737 million loan guarantee to TSE to develop the Project. 3 AA 266, 270. To secure this loan, a Deed of Trust was recorded in Nye County conveying a security interest to the

DOE for all aspects of the Project, including all buildings and other improvements to the land. 3 AA 270; 1 AA 138.

TSE entered into an agreement with Brahma, dated February 1, 2017, for Brahma to perform services and related work on the Project. *See* 1 AA 15. Disputes arose between TSE and Brahma concerning payment and performance under the agreement. Brahma asserts that TSE failed to pay it for work performed on the Project; TSE asserts that it has overpaid Brahma based on fraudulent misrepresentations made by Brahma in its invoices.

II. Brahma records a mechanic's lien and amends it twice.

As a result of this payment dispute, Brahma proceeded to record a mechanic's lien and amend it multiple times, increasing its claim amount from \$6,982,186 to over \$12.8 million in its fourth amended lien, an increase that cannot be explained by work performed after the recording of the original lien.

1. On April 9, 2018, Brahma recorded a notice of lien against the Project in the amount of \$6,982,186.24 ("Original Lien"). 1 AA 37. The Original Lien encumbered nine parcels. 1 AA 40. It identified the owner of the parcels as the "Bureau of Land Management and Tonopah Solar Energy, LLC". 1 AA 38.

These nine parcels consist of 39,254.82 acres of land, of which, the BLM owns 89.4% or 35,107.33 acres. *See* 3 AA 251-52 (BLM parcels); 3 AA 254, 55, 56, 58, 64 (remaining parcels). The nine parcels consisted of (i) four parcels

owned by TSE (which do not contain any aspect of the Project and upon which Brahma did not perform any work), 3 AA 254, 55, 56, 58, 71, (ii) two unowned parcels, 3 AA 261-62, (iii) one parcel owned by a separate mining company that has nothing to do with the Project, 3 AA 264, and (iv) two parcels owned by the BLM upon which the Project is located, 3 AA 251-52. Below is a chart showing each parcel encumbered by the Original Lien, its owner, and a note regarding the parcel.

No.	APN	Owner	Note
i.	APN 012-031-04	TSE (3 AA 254, 271)	121.6 acres; TSE owns it for its water rights; no aspect of the Project is located on this parcel, nor did Brahma ever perform any work on this parcel. (3 AA 254, 271).
ii.	APN 012-131-03	TSE (3 AA 255, 271)	79.070 acres; TSE owns it for its water rights; no aspect of the Project is located on this parcel, nor did Brahma ever perform any work on this parcel. (3 AA 255, 271).
iii.	APN 012-131-04	TSE (3 AA 256, 271)	80.920 acres; TSE owns it for its water rights. No aspect of the Project is located on this parcel, nor did Brahma ever perform any work on this parcel. (3 AA 256, 271).
iv.	APN 612-141-01	TSE (3 AA 258, 271)	It is simply a right of way/easement over APN 12-141-01 (which is owned by the BLM). (3 AA 258, 271).
V.	APN 012-140-01	No owner (3 AA 261)	

vi.	APN 012-150-01	No owner (3 AA 262)	
vii.	APN 012-431-06	Liberty Moly, LLC (3 AA 264)	Liberty Moly, LLC is a private mining company that has no role in the Project and for which Brahma did not perform any work connected to the Project.
viii.	APN 012-141-01	BLM (3 AA 251)	20,923.240 acres (3 AA 251).
ix.	APN 012-151-01	BLM (3 AA 252)	14,184.090 acres (3 AA 252).

- 2. On April 16, 2018, Brahma recorded a Notice of First Amended and Restated Lien ("First Amended Lien"). 1 AA 45-47. The First Amended Lien increased the amount of the lien to \$7,178,376.94. 1 AA 46. Brahma failed to attach the property description to the First Amended Lien, thus, two days later, Brahma recorded a new Notice of First Amended and Restated Lien. 1 AA 49-57. It encumbered the same nine parcels as the Original Lien. 1 AA 54.
- 3. On April 24, 2018, Brahma recorded a Notice of Second Amended and Restated Lien ("Second Amended Lien"). 1 AA 59-67. This time the lien amount remained the same. 1 AA 60. Instead, Brahma altered its description of the property attached by the lien. This lien stated that it encumbered TSE's "interest in the [Project] . . . the real property owned by the [BLM] is not charged with this lien." 1 AA 61.

III. TSE moves to expunge Brahma's mechanic's lien and Brahma amends its lien again.

On June 11, 2018, TSE moved to expunge Brahma's mechanic's lien under NRS 108.2275(1). 1 AA 1-13. TSE argued that Brahma's mechanic's lien was frivolous and made without reasonable cause because, among other reasons, Brahma's Original Lien was invalid for encumbering federally-owned land and could not be amended because it was void, and NRS 108.229(1) precluded Brahma from amending its Original Lien to no longer encumber federally-owned land because the variance was intentional. *See id*.

On July 19, 2018, Brahma recorded a Third Amended and/or Restated Notice of Lien ("Third Amended Lien"). 2 AA 223-30. This time, Brahma increased the lien amount to \$11,902,474.75. 2 AA 225. The lien identified the same nine parcels and stated that it only encumbered "[t]he real property described in Exhibit A . . . to the extent not owned by the [BLM] or Liberty Moly, LLC; and/or [t]he improvements located and constructed on the Land, including, but not limited to the improvements identified as the [Project]." 2 AA 224.

Brahma opposed TSE's motion to expunge, arguing, among other things, that its Third Amended Lien only encumbered the Project improvements and not any federally-owned land. *See* 1 AA 84-103. TSE filed a reply in support of its motion to expunge, arguing, among other things, that sovereign immunity precluded Brahma from attaching the Project improvements because such a lien

would impair the federal government's significant security interest in them. *See* 3 AA 236-49.

IV. The district court does not expunge Brahma's lien.

The district court heard arguments on the motion on September 12, 2018. 5 AA 346. At the hearing, the district court denied TSE's motion to expunge. 5 AA 430-34.²

The district court issued an order denying TSE's motion to expunge on October 29, 2012. 6 AA 472-81. The court first determined that NRS 108.229(1) did not preclude Brahma's amendments because Brahma had "not 'intentionally' attach[ed] BLM land such that it is precluded from amending its Notice of Lien." 6 AA 480. Second, the court rejected TSE's argument that Brahma's Original Lien was void and could not be amended. *Id.* The court concluded, without further explanation or findings, that "TSE [was] estopped from arguing that the [Original Lien] [was] void simply because the BLM's land was allegedly implicated in the [Original Lien]." *Id.* Third and finally, the court determined that sovereign immunity did not preclude Brahma from attaching the Project improvements because "the DOE's security interest [was not] impaired by Brahma asserting a Notice of Lien," and "if Brahma were to eventually foreclose on its Notice of Lien,

² Two days after the hearing, on September 12, 2018, Brahma recorded a Fourth Amended and/or Restated Notice of Lien, which increased the amount of the lien to \$12,859,577.74. A surety bond has also been recorded releasing the lien.

the Work of Improvement could still be operated as a solar electric facility." 6 AA 481. Therefore, the court determined that Brahma's lien was not frivolous or made without reasonable cause. *Id.*

Following the denial, Brahma moved for attorney fees and costs under NRS 108.2275(6). 7 AA 482-95. Brahma sought \$77,937.50 in attorney fees and \$479.84 in costs for opposing TSE's motion to expunge and drafting its motion for attorney fees and costs. *See id.* TSE conceded that fees must be awarded under the statute. *See* 8 AA 526-41. TSE pointed out, however, numerous reasons why \$77,937.50 in attorney fees for this limited amount of work was unreasonable, including that the hours billed, 206.90, were excessive, and should have been reduced for block billing, overstaffing, duplication of efforts, excessive time spent (i.e., 28.70 hours spent drafting the form motion for attorney fees), and inadequate documentation and descriptions. *See id.*

V. The district court awards Brahma its full attorney fees and costs.

The district court granted Brahma's motion for attorney fees and costs in its entirety. See 14 AA 1006-18. The court determined that the rates and hours spent were reasonable because of the size of the lien, the complexity of the issues presented, the quality of counsel, the quality of the work product, and the result. 14 AA 1012. The court awarded Brahma \$88,417.34; \$10,000 of which was a

stipulated-to amount for Brahma's counsel's time drafting the reply, attending the hearing, and preparing the order. 14 AA 1013-14.

TSE timely filed its notice of appeal challenging the district court's denial of TSE's motion to expunge and grant of Brahma's motion for attorney fees and costs. *See* 14 AA 1019-22.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. Mechanic's liens that are invalid as a matter of law are frivolous and must be expunged under NRS 108.2275(1).
- A. Brahma's Original Lien was invalid as a matter of law because it encumbered federally-owned land.
- B. Brahma attempted to fix this defect—encumbering federally-owned land—by amending its lien. Brahma's efforts were futile for two reasons.

First, a lien that attaches federally-owned land is void. A void legal document, such as a contract, pleading, or lien, cannot be amended because it is deemed to never to have existed. This Court has applied this reasoning to conclude that a void pleading cannot be amended. Thus, Brahma's Original Lien, which was void for attaching federally-owned land, could not be amended. The district court erred in concluding that TSE was estopped from making this argument. There is no basis for the district court's finding of estoppel.

Second, NRS 108.229(1) precludes material amendments to liens. An amendment is material if it was made intentionally. There is no question that Brahma intentionally attached federally-owned land in its Original Lien and amended it to no longer attach federally-owned land. NRS 108.229(1) precluded this result. Brahma should have recorded a new lien instead. The district court erred by concluding that Brahma did not intentionally attach federally-owned land. There is no support for this conclusion.

C. Even if Brahma could amend its lien, Brahma's most recent lien fails as a matter of law because it attaches Project improvements in which the federal government has a real, significant financial interest. The federal government's financial interest in the TSE-owned improvements derives from a \$737 million loan guarantee issued by the DOE. Foreclosure on the Project improvements by Brahma would result in Brahma recovering ahead of the federal government's security interest. Sovereign immunity exists to prevent this result for the federal government. The district court's conclusion to the contrary was erroneous.

The district court's denial of TSE's motion to expunge should be reversed.

Brahma's mechanic's lien should have been expunged.

II. Awards of attorney fees must be reasonable. The practice of block billing impairs a court's ability to assess the reasonableness of the fees sought. For this reason, courts generally reduce fee awards supported by block-billed time entries.

Eighty percent of Brahma's time entries supporting its requested fees were block billed. Despite this, the district court awarded Brahma one hundred percent of the attorney fees it requested. This was an abuse of discretion.

ARGUMENT

I. Brahma's mechanic's lien should be expunged because it is invalid as a matter of law.

Under NRS 108.2275(1), a party in interest in a property subject to a mechanic's lien may move to dismiss or reduce the lien for being frivolous and made without reasonable cause or excessive. *J.D. Constr. v. IBEX Int'l Grp.*, 126 Nev. 366, 372, 240 P.3d 1033, 1038 (2010). In resolving such a motion, a district court must make one of three options: "(1) that the notice of lien is frivolous and made without reasonable cause, (2) that the lien amount is excessive, or (3) that the notice of lien is not frivolous or excessive and made with reasonable cause." *Id.* at 372, 240 P.3d at 1038 (citing NRS 108.2275(6)(a)-(c)).

A lien is frivolous and made without reasonable cause if it fails to comply with the mechanic's lien statute or is otherwise invalid as a matter of law. *I. Cox Const. Co., LLC v. CH2 Investments, LLC*, 129 Nev. 139, 149, 296 P.3d 1202, 1206 (2013); *Hardy Companies, Inc. v. SNMARK, LLC*, 126 Nev. 528, 536, 245 P.3d 1149, 1155 (2010); *see* Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019) (defining "frivolous" as "[1]acking a legal basis or legal merit; manifestly insufficient as a matter of law").

Here, Brahma's mechanic's lien was frivolous and made without reasonable cause for the reasons set forth below. Each reason presents a question of law, and is thus, subject to de novo review. *See In re Fontainebleau Las Vegas Holdings*, 128 Nev. 556, 572, 289 P.3d 1199, 1209 (2012) (providing that questions of law are reviewed de novo).

A. Brahma's Original Lien was invalid as a matter of law because it attached federally-owned land.

It is axiomatic that sovereign immunity renders liens encumbering federallyowned land invalid as a matter of law. See F. D. Rich Co., Inc. v. U. S. for Use of Indus. Lumber Co., Inc., 417 U.S. 116 (1974) ("Ordinarily, a supplier of labor or materials on a private construction project can secure a mechanic's lien against the improved property under state law. But a lien cannot attach to Government property . . ."); U.S. for the Use & Benefit of Daniel H. Hill v. Am. Sur. Co., 200 U.S. 197, 203 (1906) ("As against the United States, no lien can be provided upon its public buildings or grounds."); United States v. Lewis Cty., 175 F.3d 671, 678 (9th Cir. 1999) ("Foreclosure against federally-owned property is a suit against the United States, which cannot be prosecuted without its consent."); Guild Mortg. Co. v. Prestwick Court Tr., No. 215CV258JCMVCF, 2018 WL 894609, at *9 (D. Nev. Feb. 14, 2018) ("Foreclosure on federal property is prohibited where it interferes with the statutory mission of a federal agency."); Best Assets, Inc. v. Dep't of Hous. & Urban Dev., No. 09 C 4259, 2009 WL 3719212, at *3 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 5, 2009)

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