IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Supreme Court Case No. 78092

Electronically Filed Mar 03 2020 09:06 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

TONOPAH SOLAR ENERGY, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

BRAHMA GROUP, INC.,

Respondent.

Appeal from Judgment
Fifth Judicial District Court
The Honorable Steven Elliott, District Court Judge
District Court Case No. CV 39348

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

RICHARD L. PEEL, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 4359 ERIC B. ZIMBELMAN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 9407

PEEL BRIMLEY LLP

Brahma Group, Inc.

3333 E. Serene Avenue, Suite 200 Henderson, NV 89074-6571 Telephone: (702) 990-7272 Facsimile: (702) 990-7273 ezimbelman@peelbrimley.com rpeel@peelbrimley.com

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Contrary to TSE's unfounded argument, Brahma never liened federally-owned land but instead attached (i) the real property, and (ii) work of improvement *owned by TSE*. Brahma's Original Lien was not "void," and even if it was, TSE had no standing to complain that the Original Lien was void simply because the land

owned by a non-party (who has never challenged Brahma's Lien) was allegedly implicated in the Notice of Lien.

Nonetheless, as liberally allowed by NRS 108.229(1), Brahma timely amended its Original Lien or recorded new notices of lien to resolve any ambiguity or doubt that its Lien did not attach federally-owned land. The District Court's finding that any suggestion of a lien on federal land was unintentional and did not mislead any adverse party to its prejudice is supported by substantial evidence and must therefore be affirmed.

The District Court also found, as supported by substantial evidence, that the federal government's security interest in TSE's property and Work of Improvement was not impaired by Brahma's Lien, and as such, the doctrine of sovereign immunity did not bar Brahma's Lien. Even if this were so, the subsequent recording of the Surety Bond by Cobra and its surety pursuant to NRS 108.2415(1), released Brahma's Lien from the Property and Work of Improvement, rendering TSE's Appeal of this issue entirely moot because Brahma no longer possesses a Lien against the Property or the Work of Improvement, irrespective of the ownership issue.

Finally, and pursuant to the mandatory requirements of NRS 108.2275(6)(c)**Error! Bookmark not defined.**, the District Court correctly awarded attorney's fees and costs to Brahma, the amount of which was supported by substantial evidence and in consideration of the factors set forth in *Brunzell v. Golden Gate Nat. Bank*, 85 Nev. at 349**Error! Bookmark not defined.**.

For all of these reasons, the decisions below should be affirmed.

IV. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court "will not disturb the district court's factual determinations if substantial evidence supports those determinations." J.D. Constr. v. IBEX Int'l

Grp., 126 Nev. 366, 380–81, 240 P.3d 1033, 1043 (2010). ¹⁵ Only findings that are "clearly erroneous" may be set aside. *Id.* The plain language of NRS 108.2275 requires a district court to consider the material facts of the case to make a determination regarding whether a lien is excessive or frivolous. *J.D. Constr.*, 126 Nev. at 375, 240 P.3d 1033, 1039 (2010).

As more fully discussed below, in denying TSE's Motion to Expunge, the District Court appropriately made important factual determinations which are supported by substantial evidence, which factual determinations may therefore not be set aside.

Similarly, with respect to the District Court's award of attorney's fees and costs to Brahma, the standard of review is whether the District Court's decision was an abuse of discretion, which is was not. *Brunzell*, 85 Nev. at 350.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. A LIEN MAY BE RELEASED PURSUANT TO NRS 108.2275 ONLY IF THERE IS "ABSOLUTELY NO BASIS FOR A CLAIM."

A district court may make an order releasing a notice of lien pursuant to NRS 108.2275 *only* if it is "frivolous *and* was made without reasonable cause." NRS 18.2275(6)(a). Here, the District Court concluded that Brahma's Lien was *not* frivolous and *was* made with reasonable cause. 6 AA 482. As this Court noted in *J.D. Const.*, the legislative history of NRS 108.2275 demonstrates that:

[The party arguing that the lien is frivolous] must show there is *absolutely no basis* for a claim. If there is any showing of good faith, the court will not dismiss the lien.

9

¹⁵ Substantial evidence is that [evidence] which "a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Id*.

J.D. Const., 126 Nev. at 380 citing Hearing on S.B. 434 Before the Assembly Comm. On Judiciary, 68th Leg (Nev., June 26, 1995) (emphasis added).

As the moving party, TSE bore the burden of proving that Brahma's Lien was frivolous and that there is "absolutely no basis for a claim." TSE did not meet that burden before the District Court and cannot do so here.

TSE inaccurately cites to *I. Cox Const. Co., LLC v. CH2 Investments, LLC*, 129 Nev. 139, 149, 296 P.3d 1202, 1206 (2013) and *Hardy*, Nev. at 536, 245 P.3d 1149, 1155 (2010) for the proposition that "a lien is frivolous and made without reasonable cause *if it fails to comply* with the mechanic's lien statute *or is otherwise invalid* as a matter of law." Opening Brief p. 10 (emphasis added). This is not the rule in Nevada.

Hardy (i) never uses the word "frivolous," (ii) does not address NRS 108.2275, and (iii) only stands for the unremarkable proposition that "failure to either fully or substantially comply with the mechanic's lien statute will render a mechanic's lien invalid as a matter of law." 126 Nev. at 536-37. Similarly, *I. Cox* does not use the word "invalid" and instead the *I. Cox* Court ruled that work performed after completion of a work of improvement did not extend the time within which to record a lien. 129 Nev. at 149. Stated differently, "invalid" is not synonymous with "frivolous."

As the Washington Court of Appeals has held, even if a lien is ultimately found to be invalid, it is frivolous "only if it presents no debatable issues and is so devoid of merit that it has no possibility of succeeding." *Intermountain Elec., Inc. v. G-A-T Bros. Const.*, 115 Wash. App. 384, 394, 62 P.3d 548, 553 (2003). ¹⁶ That is,

¹⁶ In formulating the proposed changes to Nevada's mechanic's lien law, "proponents looked at statutes from other states in the region," specifically "Arizona, California, Oregon, and Washington." *J.D. Constr.*, 126 Nev. at 373 citing Hearing on S.B. 434 Before the Senate Comm. on Judiciary, 68th Leg. (Nev., May 23, 1995).

"every frivolous lien is invalid. But not every invalid lien is frivolous." *Id*. To be frivolous, the lien must be improperly filed "beyond legitimate dispute." *Id*.

TSE's argument attempts to blur this line contrary to the plain language of NRS 108.2275, which permits a court to deem a notice of lien frivolous *only* if there is "absolutely no basis for a claim." *J.D. Const.*, *supra*, 26 Nev. at 380. As discussed more fully below, TSE cannot meet this high burden and, in any event, Brahma's Lien was not invalid.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DENIED TSE'S MOTION TO EXPUNGE BRAHMA'S LIEN PURSUANT TO NRS 108.2275

1. Brahma's Notice Of Lien Did Not Attach Federal Land.

As TSE correctly notes, it has long been the rule that a mechanic's lien generally does not attach to federally owned property. Opening Brief p. 11 citing *U.S. for the Use & Benefit of Daniel H Hill v. Am. Sur. Co.*, 200 U.S. 197, 203 (1906). Indeed, section 1(a)(2) of the Miller Act provides that where a contract for the construction of a public work of the United States is awarded to any person, such person shall furnish to the United States a payment bond with a satisfactory surety 'for the protection of all persons supplying labor and material in the prosecution of the work provided for in said contract * * * . 40 U.S.C. § 270a(a)(2). Section 2(a) provides that 'Every person who has furnished labor or material in the prosecution of the work provided for in such contract * * * and who has not been paid in full therefor * * * shall have the right to sue on such payment bond * * * for the sum or sums justly due him * * *.' (Emphasis supplied.) 40 U.S.C. § 270b(a). Miller Act bonds are issued precisely because government property may not be liened. 17

11

¹⁷ This is <u>not</u> a public works project for which a Miller Act bond has issued.

Despite this, TSE insists, without evidence, that Brahma's Original Lien attached to the BLM Parcels. Brahma does not agree with this position.

The Original Lien (i) follows the statutory form, as required by Nevada law. *See* NRS 108.226(5) ("A notice of lien must be substantially in the following form ..."), and (ii) accurately identifies the "name of the owner, if known, of the property" as "Bureau of Land Management and Tonopah Solar Energy, LLC, including its subsidiaries and all other related or associated entities." 2 AA 192. As also required by the statutory form, the Original Lien provides a "description of the property to be charged with the lien" as "*Crescent Dunes Solar Energy Project* more particularly described in Exhibit A." 2 AA 193 (emphasis added). Exhibit A identifies an "Improvement" and "Land." The Improvement section states: "The Crescent Dunes Solar Energy Project is a 110 MW plant constructed on the Land in Tonapah (sic), Nevada." 2 AA 194. The Land section is a *verbatim* copy of the lengthy Deed of Trust Legal Description – i.e., the very interest that TSE pledged as security to its private lender. 2 AA 194-197; Compare to 2 AA 161-163.

Rather than be "invalid" or "void" as TSE contends (*see* Opening Brief pp. 11-16), Brahma's Original Lien followed the statutory form and attached to TSE's interest in the Work of Improvement, including (i) TSE's fee simple interest in the TSE Parcels, and (ii) TSE's leasehold interest in the BLM Parcels, *exactly* as TSE had pledged to its private lender by way of the Deed of Trust. Specifically, and while also attaching the "Improvement" described as "The Crescent Dunes Solar Energy Project [which] is a 110 MW plant constructed on the Land in Tonapah (sic), Nevada," the Original Lien also copies *verbatim* the description of the "Land" in the lengthy Deed of Trust Legal Description – i.e., the property interests that TSE pledged to its lender. 2 AA 194-197. Simply stated, if TSE can pledge such an interest to a private lender, a lien claimant, such as Brahma, can surely attach that same interest.

In fact, this Court has long recognized that the Nevada Mechanic's Lien Statute¹⁸ gives a lien claimant a lien against improvements constructed upon publicly owned land. In Young Electric Sign Co. v. Erwin Electric Co., 86 Nev. 822, 825-26, 477 P.2d 864 (1970), this Court held that a sign securely attached to real property owned by a state agency could be liened pursuant to the then-current version of NRS 108.222 allowing a lien on "any other structure ... upon such premises and the buildings, structures and improvements thereon". Id. The Young Electric Court further clarified that the "contention that one who supplies labor or materials for an improvement or structure cannot lien the appurtenance without liening the real property upon which it is located is unsupported in the law." 86 Nev. at 827 citing with approval Western Electric Co. v. Cooley, 79 Cal.App. 770, 251 P. 331 (1926) (an electrical power line was a "structure" that could be liened even though located on a public highway owned and controlled by the state. See also English v. Olympic Auditorium, 217 Cal. 631, 20 p.2d 946, 87 A.L.R. 1281 (1933) (a lien may exist on the building without attaching to the land. Hence it is not essential to the existence of a mechanic's lien on a building that the person causing its erection should have owned or had any interest in the real property on which it is located.).

Statutory modifications subsequent to *Young Electric* have confirmed the rights of lien claimants to lien improvements on works of improvements, but not necessarily the real property. For example, but without limitation, NRS 108.222 states that "a *lien claimant* has a lien upon *the property*" and "any *improvements* for which the work, materials and equipment were furnished or to be furnished..." [Emphasis added].

NRS 108.22128 defines "<u>Improvement</u>" as "the development, enhancement or addition *to property*, by the provision of work, materials or equipment. [Emphasis

¹⁸ NRS 108.221 through 108.246 inclusive.

added]. NRS 108.22128 defines "Property" as "the land, real property or mining claim of an owner for which a work of improvement was provided, including all buildings, improvements and fixtures thereon [Emphasis added]. NRS 108.22148 defines "Owner" to include, among other things, the owner or owners, or reputed owner or owners of the property or an improvement to the property. Similarly, NRS 108.22188 defines a "Work of Improvement" as "the entire structure or scheme of improvement as a whole, including, without limitation, all work, materials and equipment to be used in or for the construction, alteration or repair of the property or any improvement thereon, whether under multiple prime contracts or a single prime contract. [Emphasis added]. See also Byrd Underground, L.L.C. v. Angaur, L.L.C., 130 Nev. 586, 593, 332 P.3d 273, 278 (2014) ("the trier of fact must look to the entire structure or scheme of improvement as a whole—the 'overall construction'— ... in determining whether construction on a work of improvement has commenced.").

2. Brahma's Lien Has Been Properly Amended To Confirm That It Is Limited To The TSE Property And The Work Of Improvement.

The lien has been amended (and/or restated as a new notice of lien) multiple times to adjust the amount of the Lien and, out of an abundance of caution, to clarify that it does not attach to the BLM Parcels. Specifically, the Second Amended Lien notes that TSE "is the owner of the real property and leasehold property subject to this lien," whose "interest in the Crescent Dunes Solar Energy Project" is "charged with the lien," <u>but</u> that "the real property owned by the Bureau of Land Management is not being charged with this lien." 2 AA 212-221. Similarly, the Third Amended Lien further clarified that Brahma's claim of lien (i) extends to the TSE Parcels, (ii) does <u>not</u> extend to the BLM Parcels, but (iii) <u>does</u> extend to the improvements constructed on the BLM Parcels. 2 AA 224.

TSE incorrectly asserts, for several reasons, that the Lien cannot be so amended. To the contrary, even if the Original Lien or First Amended Lien could be interpreted to attach to the BLM Parcels, NRS 108.229(1) expressly allows Brahma to amend its Lien "[a]t any time before or during the trial of any action to foreclose a lien to correct or clarify the lien claimant's notice of lien." Here, no trial has been commenced, much less completed.

a. Brahma's lien is not "void."

TSE first argues that Brahma may not amend its lien because the Original Lien was invalid and, therefore, "void" because (TSE argues) it improperly attached federal property. As discussed above, Brahma's lien did no such thing. Yet even if the Original Lien could be so misinterpreted as TSE - and *only* TSE¹⁹ - suggests, such ambiguity does not render the lien "void" or preclude an amendment. First, as noted, the applicable statutory provision liberally permits an amendment to a lien "to *correct or clarify* the lien claimant's notice of lien." NRS 108.229(1). Nothing in the statute, the legislative history or this Court's precedent suggests or supports the notion that the right to correct or clarify is limited to, for example, the amount of the lien. To the contrary, the entirety of "the lien claimant's notice of lien" is subject to correction or clarification. Not even TSE disputes that as of the time the District Court ruled on and rejected TSE's Motion to Expunge the operant notice of lien plainly, explicitly and unambiguously *disclaimed* any lien against the BLM Parcels.²⁰

TSE is also wrong to assert that a Nevada notice of lien containing a correctable technical defect is like a void pleading, deed of trust or contract. See

¹⁹ It is worth noting that neither the BLM nor any other federal agency has appeared in or sought relief from any court relating to the Brahma's lien.

²⁰ Of course, nothing in the statutory notice of lien form, or elsewhere, requires a lien claimant to <u>dis</u>claim interests. Nonetheless, Brahma has gone above and beyond to preclude any misunderstanding concerning the subject matter of the Brahma Lien.

Opening Brief pp. 13-16. TSE concedes, as it must, that this Court, has never precluded an amendment to a mechanic's lien on the grounds that the original notice of lien was "void." Opening Brief p. 13. Certainly if a notice of lien was untimely and such defect could not be remedied, an amendment to the face or language of the notice of lien would also be untimely. But TSE's complaint is not with the timeliness of Brahma's Lien, but rather with the presumed effect of the Lien on the BLM Parcels, irrespective of the Brahma Lien's clear, unambiguous and timely attachment to the TSE Parcels and TSE's leasehold interest in the BLM Parcels that were the subject of the Work of Improvement.

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